

CU Boulder Wind Team 2023-2024

Project Development Final Report

April 18th, 2024

Student Lead:

Elyse DeBarros Elyse.DeBarros@colorado.edu

Julia Gentile – Project Development Lead Aria Mundy – Data Analyst Carver Lindley – Turbine Engineer Daniel Sherry – Environmental Lead Elyse Debarros – Hybrid System Lead Donggyu Jang – Site Analyst Jacqueline Hall – Environmental Impact Speciaist Loren Peterson – Hybrid System Specialist Megan Finnigan – Market Specialist Mia Lonergan – Policy and Compliance Specialist Preston Brumley – O&M and Installations Lead Stewart Rojec – Electrical Engineer

Faculty Advisor:

Roark Lanning Roark.Lanning@colorado.edu

Table of Contents

Introduction	
Site Selection and Energy Estimation	
Turbine and Foundation Selection	3
Port Selection	3
Vessels	4
Environmental Impacts, Assessments, Permitting, and Mitigation	4
Energy Production and Layout	6
Interconnection	6
Hybrid Site and Generation	7
Stakeholder Evaluation	9
Project Timeline	10
Financial Analysis	
Capital Expenditures	
Operational Expenditures	11
Power Purchase Agreement	
Ownership Structure	12
Taxes, Incentives, and Other Assumptions	12
Net Present Value (NPV)	13
Supply Chains Contingencies	13
Critical Assumptions	13
Optimization Process	
Bid for Lease	
References	

Introduction

Offshore wind is becoming prevalent in efforts to decarbonize energy production. With recent wind farm developments off the coasts of U.S., investigations suggest that wind energy in the Great Lakes could become financially feasible and desirable for decarbonizing nearby energy sectors [1]. Our team, BuffWind, used industry standard practices to select and develop a layout of a wind farm in Lake Michigan, conduct a 20-year financial analysis, and outline ancillary benefits of the project. **Site Selection and Energy Estimation**

BuffWind selected a site off the coast of West Olive in Lake Michigan. To choose our site, we vetted 14 preliminary locations that avoided critical factors including fishing zones, shipping lanes, protected areas, and military activity. We then created a decision matrix to weigh factors such as wind resource, depth, distance from port, transmission, ice coverage, and community approval, among others. Through this process, we selected our final offshore site with center coordinates at 42.88261°N and 86.7232 °W. The site is 58 km² and has 55 turbines with 150 m hub heights.

Wind speeds in Lake Michigan generally increase from the shoreline to the center of each lake. Various data sources document similar trends, with reported speeds ranging from 7.5 to 9.1 m/s at a height of 150 meters. For example, the Global Wind Atlas reported a speed of 9.1 m/s in 2022, while ERA I data spanning from 2006 to 2019 showed an average of 7.5 m/s [2]. A comprehensive analysis of Wind Toolkit Data, sourced from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory's developer network, revealed an average wind speed of 9.59 m/s between the years of 2000 and 2020 [3].

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct
00:00-01:00	10.882	10.824	11.165	12.008	11.352	9.545	8.366	7.728	9.271	10.589
01:00-02:00	10.741	10.698	10.952	11.937	11.245	9.520	8.359	7.742	9.190	10.506
02:00-03:00	10.582	10.591	10.806	11.856	11.099	9.511	8.270	7.620	9.010	10.328
03:00-04:00	10.470	10.515	10.689	11.711	10.812	9.388	8.079	7.411	8.901	10.233
04:00-05:00	10.424	10.519	10.647	11.511	10.748	9.227	7.831	7.252	8.754	10.125
05:00-06:00	10.391	10.523	10.612	11.369	10.664	9.193	7.647	7.261	8.641	10.116
06:00-07:00	10.389	10.512	10.577	11.333	10.574	9.157	7.544	7.131	8.524	10.021
07:00-08:00	10.341	10.496	10.558	11.364	10.402	9.075	7.440	7.111	8.551	10.067
08:00-09:00	10.223	10.524	10.503	11.258	10.173	8.846	7.250	7.067	8.496	10.149
09:00-10:00	10.152	10.397	10.178	10.969	9.923	8.478	7.023	6.891	8.314	10.008
10:00-11:00	10.022	10.197	9.882	10.704	9.486	8.103	6.861	6.717	8.130	9.864
11:00-12:00	9.976	10.019	9.678	10.418	9.160	7.852	6.530	6.571	7.977	9.672
12:00-13:00	9.961	9.996	9.579	10.107	8.920	7.496	6.285	6.399	7.820	9.594
13:00-14:00	10.049	10.059	9.554	9.977	8.837	7.271	6.187	6.272	7.634	9.506
14:00-15:00	10.162	10.095	9.575	9.930	8.921	7.289	6.281	6.235	7.583	9.502
15:00-16:00	10.257	10.195	9.643	9.881	8.972	7.411	6.361	6.323	7.582	9.462
16:00-17:00	10.384	10.433	9.790	10.135	9.200	7.629	6.537	6.447	7.650	9.607
17:00-18:00	10.616	10.608	10.033	10.500	9.322	7.899	6.679	6.734	7.908	9.858
18:00-19:00	10.950	10.913	10.471	10.881	9.489	8.064	6.774	6.890	8.274	10.160
19:00-20:00	11.145	11.130	10.827	11.208	9.754	8.393	6.959	7.078	8.628	10.478
20:00-21:00	11.252	11.309	11.092	11.608	10.157	8.483	7.239	7.261	8.908	10.731
21:00-22:00	11.170	11.354	11.373	11.890	10.600	8.845	7.500	7.520	9.099	10.856
22:00-23:00	11.043	11.228	11.515	12.049	11.016	9.220	7.745	7.650	9.321	10.871
23:00-24:00	10.959	11.069	11.487	12.091	11.122	9.440	8.054	7.769	9.421	10.725

Another major factor that we considered in our offshore site selection was existing interconnection infrastructure onshore. The J.H. Campbell power plant, which is currently a 1.56 MW coal plant [4], is located just north of Holland, Michigan. The power plant has an established utility-scale interconnection infrastructure including 345 kV transmission circuits [5] and more. Consumers Energy, the owner of the plant, is currently taking steps to retire the plant in 2025 and use the site for cleaner energy projects, a timeline and focus which closely

Figure 1. Diurnal mean wind speeds from 2000-2020 NREL Wind Toolkit data

match those of BuffWind [6]. The power plant also offers a large plot of land that could be used for battery storage, which is critical to operating a utility-scale wind project.

The average depth at the site is 95 m, with a relatively shallow depth gradient ranging from 90 to 100 m. Like many freshwater lakes, Lake Michigan features a weak lakebed composed mostly of soft sand, silt, clay, and soft shale. Also like most lakes, the typical wave height is only 1 m, with up to 3 m waves

on windy days. The measured record wave height was 7 m during a severe storm. The temperature at our site ranges between -10 °C and 25 °C, and the average ice coverage during the winter is 30%, with a high variance from year to year.

To guide site selection, BuffWind investigated recent US wind farm failures for insight into challenges and good practices. The Scandia Wind Project, which would have been located near our site, was shut down due to viewshed problems and ecosystem concerns. In contrast, the closest wind turbine is 36 km away from the shore - notably further towards the middle of the lake and therefore is predicted to have a minimal impact on the view [7]. We also plan to implement community outreach and involvement early in the development phase in both the port and interconnection towns to mitigate local environmental concerns. For reference, our site's placement relative



Figure 2. Site layout including existing commercial and environmental considerations.

to some environmental obstructions is shown in Figure 2.

Turbine and Foundation Selection

Our team decided to use the General Electric 150-6 MW offshore turbine, with an increased hub height to its maximum of 150 meters. This turbine has a rotor diameter of 150 meters, a power density rating of 336 W/m², and a rated wind speed of 12 m/s [8]. Although this turbine is optimized for IEC Class I winds, the project site has average wind speeds in the IEC Class II range. Our team could not identify any offshore models optimized for our wind class, but if some were to enter the market closer to our proposed start date, we would explore those options.

To further solidify our decision to use this model, our team compared the output of the System Advisor Model (SAM) with 4 other turbines in a farm sized within 30 MW of our final nameplate capacity. We compared our system to the Vestas 165-9.5 MW and 10 MW turbines, the MHI Vestas 164-8.3 MW turbines, and the Siemens Gamesa 164-8 MW turbines, using a combination of manufacturer specifications and NREL offshore reference specs. None of these options proved to be as economically viable as our current choice, demonstrating its suitability for this project.

Literature surrounding offshore development in the Great Lakes suggests that most turbines larger than 6 MW would require expensive retrofitting on most vessels and available ports [1]. While we recognize that the market is moving towards manufacturing only bigger offshore turbines in the 9 to 15 MW range, these models would require extensive infrastructure upgrades. If this GE turbine were to leave the market before the start of construction, we would consider the next smallest option or partner with a turbine manufacturer to produce a turbine that meets the project's needs.

The foundation that best suits the needs of the turbine, installation, O&M requirements, and the farm location is the Glosten PelaStar tension leg platform (TLP) [9] [10]. This floating foundation offers dockside turbine installation and a small waterline profile that can withstand floating ice loads better than other options. Monopile and jacket foundations are typically used in offshore wind sites are restricted to depths of less than 50 m with a depth of 95 m at the site, a floating foundation is therefore required [11]. Due to the silt and clay composition of the lakebed, driven piles are the best choice for anchoring [12].

Although it would be ideal to have all components manufactured in the United States, the factory currently producing the parts for this specific turbine is located abroad [13]. The Jones Act complicates the import of international turbine components due to vessel restrictions. Our team could not find detailed steps explaining how international cargo is moved between barges when entering the Seaway. However, the Port of Indiana, Burns Harbor frequently receives international shipments. Thus, we are assuming there is a method already in place to ensure imports comply with the Jones Act. Additionally, we have found articles indicating that blades of our length could fit on a barge within the size limits of the Saint Lawrence Seaway [14], possibly eliminating any complications with rail or highway travel. The nacelle and tower are still difficult to ship but can be separated into subcomponents and constructed at the port, so shipping those parts is a lesser concern [15].

Port Selection

BuffWind aims to make decisions that reflect the current market and do not depend on future advancements for project feasibility. While the Ports of Indiana - Burns Harbor, is not currently fit and able to handle the installation of a utility-scale wind farm at its current state, our research leads us to believe that it is the best suited for the job and would require the least retrofitting out of all the ports on Lake Superior and Lake Michigan. The following ports in these lakes were also considered: the Port of Chicago, Ports of Indiana – Burns Harbor, the Port of Milwaukee, and Duluth Seaway Port. Each port was evaluated based on existing crane tonnage, channel depth, size of largest vessel in use, total laydown area and the potential community impacts. Ports of Indiana – Burns Harbor scored highest on a decision matrix based on these factors, leading us to select it.

Port research indicated that an additional 1.5 m must be dredged to meet the draught requirement for TLPs, as all the ports surrounding the lakes have a channel depth of about 9 m. The Ports of Indiana – Burns Harbor has a total laydown area of 74 acres, which is sufficient to construct 6 MW turbines and foundations [16]. Paired with this laydown area, there are additional leasing areas at the port for garages and storage for O&M equipment. While there are four existing 170 MT cranes at the port, the TLP

foundation weight is 1200 MT. BuffWind plans to rent heavy lift cranes and install a quay, which would need to support over 10 MT/m² [17].

Vessels

BuffWind has strategically avoided jack-up vessels by choosing a foundation type and turbine size that allows for onshore construction and "tugging" out to site. The TLP foundation only requires a bespoke barge in addition to tugboats for installation [18]. Other vessels required for the installation of this farm are environmental-autonomous underwater vessels, vessels with drilling equipment, anchor handling tugs, cable burial vessels, DP vessels, and crew transfer vessels. Lake Michigan currently has all these vessels except wind-farm-specific crew transfer vessels and cable burial vessels. These are usually moderately sized and can be imported via the St. Lawrence Seaway. Additionally, there is a shipyard on the Seaway that is building vessels for offshore wind turbines, from which we anticipate receiving vessels [19]. Crew transfer vessels, towing vessels, and service operation vessels will be needed during operation and maintenance (O&M) [20]. We also anticipate needing icebreakers during winters when there is full ice coverage. Lake Michigan has a fleet of ice breakers already on the lake [21].

Environmental Impacts, Assessments, Permitting, and Mitigation

The construction, operation, and decommissioning of an offshore wind project exert stresses on benthic (bottom-dwelling), pelagic (open-water), and avian communities [22]–the effects of which must be mitigated to protect lake ecology, gain community approval, and comply with state and federal regulations. The most significant environmental risks are addressed by our foundation selection. Since the TLP's minimal mooring infrastructure does not require anchor rodes or fixed-bottom infrastructure, and since our selected site is so deep, wake effects and associated lakebed scouring are reduced [22]. Additionally, the ease of anchor installation reduces the amount of time spent hammering piles which, compared to vibratory piling or reverse circular drilling, results in less sediment suspension and fewer avoidance-inducing noise and pressure waves [22] [23]. Sedimentary disturbances can clog gills, smother benthic organisms, and resuspend contaminants [22]; while acoustic emissions can produce startling, fleeting, and hiding behaviors, mask calls, and cause tissue damage and mortality–particularly for organisms with air-filled organs or middle ears [23]. Ill-effects can be reduced by the establishment of a well-monitored exclusion zone close to the activity, and hammer blow intensity can be gradually increased over the course of 20 minutes or more to allow animals time to leave the vicinity [23].

Unfortunately, dockside turbine assembly increases the risk of invasive species spread from the coast to the project site–where hardbottom structures can facilitate their proliferation to otherwise inaccessible regions [22]. An estimated 108 different invasive algae, bacteria, invertebrates, fish, plants, protozoa, hydrozoa, and viruses reside in Lake Michigan. As shown in Figure 3, this includes the pervasive and destructive zebra (blue) and quagga (orange) mussels that threaten the health of lake ecosystems upon which communities depend [24] [25]. Although not included in our analysis, preventative measures such as the application of novel non-stick anti-fouling coatings to vessel bottoms can minimize invasive spread without the use of harmful biocides [26] [27].



Figure 3. Invasive Mussels Sites

While increased vessel traffic can result in greater disturbances to aquatic species from noise and collisions, the avoidance behavior exhibited in response has been observed to be temporary [23]. Decreasing vessel speeds, avoiding transport through sensitive areas, and halting or reducing activity when species are nearby can further assuage such risks [22].

The J.H. Campbell power plant lies near impaired water contaminated with chlordane, DDT, dioxin, mercury, and polychlorinated biphenyls [28]. Since the trenching required to lay HVAC risks suspending these pollutants and increasing turbidity, it will be important to employ proven control measures like silt curtains and sheet piling or changing cutterhead depth and speed of advance [29]. Similar techniques can be adopted to reduce the impacts of port dredging.

Offshore wind farms can also endanger avian species that experience spatial displacement or collisions. This is of particular concern for the endangered piping plover, tri-colored bat, Indiana bat, and Karner blue butterfly, the threatened northern long-eared bat and red knot, and the monarch butterfly [30]. The migration patterns of these species have been considered but cannot be entirely avoided in any part of Lake Michigan [31]. While preliminary studies have suggested that painting wind turbine blades can increase visibility and reduce avian impacts [32], current FAA regulations do not allow for this modification [33]. Acoustic bird deterrent systems can be mounted to wind turbines, and cameras and radar can be used to detect avian species and trigger turbine shutdown [34] [35]. Site construction can also be planned to avoid migration and breeding seasons and cut-in speeds can be raised to curtail common low wind-speed collisions [36].

Midwestern winter weather can also lead to ice on blades. Passive and active techniques can be used to mitigate this accumulation. Although not included in our analysis, the former typically includes the application of ice-repellent coatings, and the latter generally involves anti- or de-icing techniques [37].

During the predicted 6-24 month [38] decommission period, we will employ circular economic practices to minimize impacts including waste generation and environmental degradation [39]. Nearly all above-ground and submerged infrastructure will be removed, unless it can be reused, to restore the site to pre-project condition [40]. Additionally, novel chemical and other processes will be used where possible to repurpose hard-to-recycle materials like fiberglass from blades [38] [41], seed-mix will be employed for land restoration, and repairs will be made to damaged roads. BuffWind will adhere to all decommissioning requirements defined in property leases. In general, a comprehensive environmental impact assessment and mitigation strategy is key to the success of an offshore wind energy project–along with careful adherence to federal and state regulations.

Agency/Act	Associated Permitting/Recommendation				
Submerged Land Act, 1953	Compliance. May require permits and leasing for land beneath navigable water.				
Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes,	Wetlands Permit (dredging), Submerged Lands Permit (construction activities), and				
and Energy (EGLE)	Land/Water Interface – Joint Permit Application.				
Indiana Department of Natural Resources	Permits for port upgrade projects				
US Army Corps of Engineers	Regional General Permit No. 1				
National Environmental Policy Act	Completion of an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), a natural resources assessment,				
National Environmental Foncy Act	etc.				
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)	FEMA Floodplain Assessment				
Bureau of Land Management (BLM)	Proposal presentation and stakeholder meetings (Indigenous groups, etc.)				
U.S. Environmental Protection Agenery	Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPP) and Spill Prevention, Control, and				
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency	Countermeasure (SPCC)				
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration	Compliance				
(NOAA): Endangered Species Act	Computance				
	Meteorological Evaluation Tower (MET) installations, marking between 50 and 200 feet above				
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)	ground level (AGL), site cannot fall within 3 nautical miles of an airport (compliance), turbines				
rederal Aviation Administration (FAA)	cannot surpass a height of 499 feet (compliance), and compliance with all marking and lighting				
	standards.				
State of Michigan	Land use permits				
State of Indiana	Land use permits				
Union Labor Laws	Compliance				
Natural Resources Conservation Service	All conservation easements avoided				
Department of Transportation (DOT)	Compliance, cooperation with the local fire Marshall, and all access roads must be approved				
Department of fransportation (DOT)	prior to construction.				

Table 1. Additional Permitting and Applications [128] [129] [130] [131] [132] [133] [134]
[135] [136] [137] [138]

Interconnection: J.H	I. Campbell Generating Facility	Port Selection: Port of Indiana-Burns Harbor		
Agency/Act Associated Permitting/Action		Agency/Act	Associated Permitting/Action	
Zoning	Compliance with the Township Zoning Act: Act 184 of 1943.		Compliance with the Specific Use Zoning. Heavy, industrial is	
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)	Compliance with regulations around regulatory floodways and special flood hazard areas (Zone AE and Zone VE).	Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA)	permitted in the industrial north. Compliance with regulations around regulatory floodways and special flood hazard areas (Zone	
Conservation Easements	One conservation easement is located in close proximity, but should be avoided.	Conservation Easements	AE and Zone VE). No conservation easements are located in close proximity.	

Energy Production and Layout

The energy generation analysis in this report utilized ERA I data, which as stated in our site description is on the lower side of estimates. Our financial model In SAM also utilized data on the lower end, by only taking Wind Toolkit data from 2014. Integrating Wind Toolkit data from 2000-2020 into the energy generation could increase energy generation by 70.5%, as the average wind speed reported is 9.6 as opposed to 7 m/s. Utilizing ERA I data provides a more conservative estimate.

Modeling the 330 MW farm in FUROW using ERA-Interim reanalysis data [42] gives an annual energy yield of 1236.56 GWh without losses. Our farm consists of 55 6 MW turbines. They are arranged as a 7x8 rectangle without one turbine in the southwest corner and a minimum spacing of 6.66 rotor diameters, or 1000 m [43]. The layout is angled 158° to minimize wake loss and achieve 5.04% wake losses using the Jensen wake loss model. Our site is restricted by shipping lanes to the north, west, and south along with the viewshed from the shore on the east. The levelized cost of energy for our farm has been calculated to be \$151/MW, or \$0.15/kW. This number is by no means low; however, it is within the range of estimates for present day, and hopefully will drop as technology advances [44].



Figure 3. Cable and Turbine Layout



Figure 4. Wake Loss Visual

Interconnection

The electricity generated by the wind farm will be transmitted from the offshore substation to the onshore substation at the J.H. Campbell Generating Plant, which is a coal power plant in Port Sheldon, Michigan. Wind turbines do not generate power at a high enough voltage suitable for transmission, so the voltage is stepped up to a medium collector voltage of 33 kV in the turbine tower. After collection, the offshore substation converts power to a transmission voltage of 132 kV AC, which is typical for this system's transmission distance of 36 km. The subsea AC cables will be trenched and connected to the substation at J.H. Campbell from underground.

J.H. Campbell is currently owned and operated by Consumers Energy, which has slated it to be decommissioned by the end of 2025. Consumers Energy has not announced any plans for the facility other than to use it to generate renewable energy, so BuffWind intends to purchase or lease it for our offshore wind farm through an agreement with Consumers Energy. J.H. Campbell's substation has the capability to receive and distribute electricity at 132 kV and higher, making it an ideal site for connecting to the grid and distributing electricity elsewhere in the Midcontinent Independent System Operator

(MISO) region. Additionally, the rest of the unused space serves BuffWind's goal of hybrid power integration.

Hybrid Site and Generation

BuffWind has explored several options for the hybrid system. First, we considered green hydrogen production via electrolysis, which would use excess electricity from the wind farm to split water into hydrogen and oxygen atoms. Green hydrogen provides a pathway to decarbonize energy-intensive industries including heavy-duty trucking, aviation, steel manufacturing, and ammonia production [45] [46]. Initiatives like the Midwest Alliance for Clean Hydrogen and the proposed \$0.60/kg tax incentive through the Inflation Reduction Act demonstrate growing political support for green hydrogen infrastructure [46] [47]. The primary customer to purchase green hydrogen from BuffWind would be Indiana Burns Harbor, which houses the largest blast furnace in the country. Located on the east side of Chicago, Burns Harbor recently completed a successful hydrogen injection trial in Blast Furnace 7 and commissioned a hydrogen pipeline, demonstrating an intent to decarbonize their steel production [48]. Switching to green hydrogen would prevent 4,588,000 tons of CO₂ from being released into the atmosphere per year [45] [49]. However, difficulties such as competition with a nearby Linde gas plant producing green hydrogen, safety issues with transportation, inefficiency of storage, lack of electrolyzer market price information, water rights concerns with natural resource authorities, and the transport distance (about 100 miles along the coast of Lake Michigan), will limit BuffWind's ability to finance green hydrogen production and make its use feasible until green hydration production and transportation technology is more mature [50] [51] [52] [53]. Not only is there danger of hydrogen combusting during transport – hydrogen is the smallest molecule, making it difficult to prevent leakages, and is roughly 20 times more potent than CO₂ over a 100-year time frame [54]. "Tube trailers" could be utilized to transport hydrogen safely but would require large amounts of energy to keep hydrogen gas pressurized [55]. A fiber reinforced polymer (FRP) lined pipeline could be installed to transport hydrogen and prevent embrittlement, but local communities would likely oppose such an action [56]. Existing natural gas pipelines were considered but are all currently in use along the lakeshore [57]. Another issue is supplying sufficient hydrogen to warrant its sale to Burns Harbor. To produce enough hydrogen to meet 5% of Blast Furnace 7's requirements for green steel, 3,805 units would be required, assuming 50 kg of hydrogen is required to produce one ton of steel [45]. Using the \$0.60/kg H₂ Production Tax Credit from Section 45V of the Inflation Reduction Act, the cost would be reduced to \$4,812,278,625, making hydrogen electrolysis a stretch without a significant investor [58] [59] [60]. If BuffWind maintains carbon dioxide emissions below 0.45 kg CO_2 per kg H_2 and meets the prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements for Ottawa County, the Investment Tax Credit would increase to \$3/kg H₂, reducing the cost to \$3,312,347,625 and making it more financially feasible. If, additionally, the wind farm utilizes Americanmade foundation steel and 20% American-made turbine components, and qualifies as a brownfield or "energy community" site due to the reuse of the J.H. Campbell plant, the Energy Credit of Section 48 would allow the hybrid system to gain a 50% ITC (in place of a 30% ITC) [61] [62]. The project cost would be reduced to \$2,062,405,125.

Due to the abundance of solar projects coming online in MISO, and the maturity of the technology, BuffWind considered solar power as a hybrid generation technology. Solar installations are attractive to investors and solar cells are becoming more efficient, with the most recent utility-scale solar hovering around 25% [63]. Solar is also modular and scalable, with a long lifespan [64]. However, single-axis tracking isn't beneficial for floating solar in areas with low irradiance, and it would require additional infrastructure and space on Lake Michigan [65]. Fish spawning areas, local fishing and recreation activities, shipping lanes, and military zones also make this a challenge. While adding a land-based solar array would provide a source of clean energy for Ottawa County and help meet some of the electricity demand that the soon-to-be-decommissioned J.H. Campbell coal plant once accounted for, the lack of significant solar resources at the site, additional required area, and lack of grid support would make it unfeasible.

As of now, a far more attractive option for providing ancillary benefits and maintaining overall grid stability is a large-scale battery system. Batteries provide a source of power when generation from wind and solar plants cannot meet demand [66]. As the percentage of renewable energy increases in the United

States, more energy storage options will be necessary to provide enough power for our ever-increasing energetic needs. BuffWind evaluated the financial implications of several utility-scale battery sizes using SAM. A 330 MW system with two hours of capacity was chosen as the optimal site due to its positive net present value and reliable size for frequency control [67]. One hundred seventyone Tesla MegaPack units will be installed at the site. This system was chosen over 6 alternatives due to its high energy density, real-world performance statistics, extensive testing, and ability to succeed in the current market [68]. Megapacks have been deployed in locations such as Moss Landing, California, U.S., Queensland, Australia, and Geelong



Figure 5. Planned battery site layout.

with capacities varying from 2 MWh to 300 MWh [69]. The battery site plan is shown in Figure 5. To size our battery project, BuffWind estimated the energy demand per capita in Ottawa County to resemble Benton Harbor, which is the closest city with readily available load data and is similar in scale to Holland and Grand Haven, Michigan (the two major cities near Ottawa County). BuffWind sourced load data from the Open Energy Data Initiative [70] and scaled the load data to match the population of Ottawa County. The annual generation data was imported from our FUROW model to compare the wind farm's energy generation to the energy demand in Ottawa County. We found that for a typical annual average profile, we can meet 5% of the energy demand for 352/365 days with a battery storage size of 660 MWh, which is 2 hours of the farm's nameplate capacity. Two hours is a good starting point for many utility-scale battery systems for frequency control and contingency (in case of generator failure, outages, etc.) [71]. Unlike solar power, wind energy is available all day and does not need the firm capacity size that a solar farm would require to overcome the energy shoulder.

The team assumed that the battery system will fully charge and discharge, which is poor practice in industry and reduces system longevity. We also made simplifying assumptions that all excess energy would be charged into the battery system, and the required energy would be discharged from the battery system, which may not reflect the complexity of the charge/discharge cycles, frequency control and utility-scale systems.

The plots below, Figure 6 and Figure 7, show the annual average generation and the load, average generation and the load for a specific day, and the required additional battery storage for all the year. For 5% of Ottawa County demand, 330 MW farm, the yearly average demands and loads are shown. The load is typically the highest around the hours 17-20 (5-10 PM), as expected.

As the battery storage size increases, system use can extend beyond frequency regulation to include ramping reserve, arbitrage, and load following capabilities [67]. However, the project cost and the LCOE would increase, making it difficult to sell energy to utility companies. To keep our LCOE low and NPV high, BuffWind determined that a 660 MWh system would provide a robust energy storage system with potential uses beyond frequency control while keeping the system financially feasible.



Figure 6. Load, generation, and difference.

Figure 7. Days we lack storage size.

Stakeholder Evaluation

Based on a review of failed wind project proposals, especially in the Great Lakes region, one of the most significant threats to the implementation of the BuffWind project is opposition from the public and other stakeholders. To evaluate the concerns that could threaten the project, Buff Wind has developed a stakeholder power map (Figure 8) to identify these groups and help us decide how to prioritize stakeholder engagement efforts throughout the project's lifetime. Each stakeholder group is plotted on the x-axis of the map based on its level of support or opposition to the project and on the y-axis according to its level of influence on the outcome of the project. Groups that are in the top left corner, for example, are both highly influential and opposed to the project, meaning that more resources are needed to overcome the risk posed by these. With the U.S. energy goals in mind, we believe that government organizations will be more likely to support the project. The strongest and most threatening opposition will likely come from Ottawa County. If they have a similar population to Ocean County, which blocked Scandia Wind, we expect them to be highly opposed. Evidence of this concern is already materializing via Save the Campbell, a group of citizens that has organized to prevent the closure of the J.H. Campbell coal plant and strongly opposes renewable energy [72]. We plan to begin outreach early to mitigate this and appeal with facts. Ottawa County may not realize that they are in the 85th percentile for cancer in the communities around the J.H. Campbell site, and hopefully showing them the health risks imposed by coal plants will change their opinion, or at least influence it [73].



Figure 8. Stakeholder Power Map

Project Timeline

Project timeline estimates are influenced by multiple offshore wind projects currently in construction and academic literature. BuffWind is assuming a worst-case scenario with construction time due to the tow-out days required for TLP installation. With 55 turbines, an estimated construction time of 40 hours for each foundation, and an estimated tow time of 5 days, we are hoping to only need two construction seasons (spring through fall) but are including a third as a buffer [74]. Since the quay side laydown is limited, we are also assuming a sliding shipment schedule, with parts coming in as needed so that we can

2024-2029	2030	2031	2032-2035	2036	2036-2056
All Quarters: Community Outreach, Development	Mobilization at Burns Harbor		Shipments of Parts	Batteries Installed	
Beginning in 2026: Presite surveys, Environmental Evaluations, Legal Review, Auction	Mobilization at J.H. Campbell		Turbine, Foundation, Array Cables and Substation Installation	Commsioning	Project Life Time
Same Evaluations at J.H. Campbell	Any Retrofittin	g Done at Port.	J.H Campbell Retrofitting	O&M garages built	

Figure 9. Project Timeline, influenced by: [113] [114] [115] [116] [118] [119]

maximize foundation and turbine construction in the laydown space rather than storage. This is why we included multiple cranes and vessels in our JEDI estimate. Lastly, we are considering dredging as separate from construction mobilization because it will ideally be done in conjunction with the State of Indiana. Construction must begin before 2032 to be eligible for the ITC. To have it applied to the battery system as well, battery installation must begin after the farm is installed.

Financial Analysis

Capital Expenditures

Capital Expenditures Summary							
Category	Cost pe		Overall Cost	% of Total Cost			
BOS Costs							
Substructure & Foundation	\$	1,739.00	\$	573,870,000.00	28.35%		
Electrical Infrastructure	\$	316.00	\$	104,280,000.00	5.15%		
Assembly & Installation	\$	432.00	\$	142,560,000.00	7.04%		
Ports & Staging	\$	172.00	\$	56,760,000.00	2.80%		
Development & Other Costs	\$	394.00	\$	130,020,000.00	6.42%		
Engineering & Management	\$	70.00	\$	23,100,000.00	1.14%		
Ice Mitigation	\$	100.00	\$	33,000,000.00	1.63%		
Plant Retrofit	\$	100.00	\$	33,000,000.00	1.63%		
Battery Capital	\$	778.00	\$	256,740,000.00	12.68%		
TOTAL	\$	4,101.00	\$	1,353,330,000.00	66.85%		
	Tur	bine Compone	ent (Costs			
Nacelle/Drivetrain	\$	929.60	\$	306,768,306.24	15.15%		
Blades	\$	278.77	\$	91,993,397.76	4.54%		
Towers	\$	196.71	\$	64,914,696.00	3.21%		
TOTAL	\$	1,405.08	\$	463,676,400.00	22.90%		
Soft Costs							
Comissioning	\$	40.00	\$	13,200,000.00	0.65%		
Construction Finance	\$	166.00	\$	54,780,000.00	2.71%		
Construction Insurance	\$	40.00	\$	13,200,000.00	0.65%		
Contingency	\$	330.00	\$	108,900,000.00	5.38%		
Decommissioning	\$	53.00	\$	17,490,000.00	0.86%		
TOTAL	\$	629.00	\$	207,570,000.00	10.25%		
TOTAL CAPEX COST	\$	6.135.08	\$	2.024.576.400.00			

Table 2. Capital Expenditures Summary

We used NREL's Jobs and Economic Development (JEDI) modeling platform to estimate the initial project costs. The model incorporates parameters such as project specifications, plant characteristics, turbine design, site attributes, substructure design, electrical infrastructure, port characteristics, and vessel deployment details as inputs. JEDI outputs the total capital expenditure (CapEx) costs, encompassing turbine components, BOS expenses, and soft costs.

The total BOS cost was estimated in JEDI to be \$3,123/kW. This BOS estimate does not consider some factors specific to the BuffWind wind farm, including the use of the TLP platform. One source estimates the cost of the TLP platform at \$1,028 per kW [75], while another suggests \$1,688 per kW [76]. A semisubmersible foundation with 5 mooring lines was utilized in JEDI, equating to \$1,739/kW, which was deemed adequate based on the literature estimates.

An additional \$100 was added to the BOS costs to account for the use of ice cones or other ice protection infrastructure, although we do not have precedent for this number and are primarily adding it as a buffer. Furthermore, since SAM does not model hybrid systems without solar PV, the estimated CapEx for the battery system was disaggregated into a \$/kW value and included in the BOS estimate. The chosen battery system, as discussed above, is the Tesla Megapack [68]. Each unit includes a bilateral inverter, power control system, thermal management system, and an AC breaker. All required components are included in the capital cost, which is \$256,916,290. Assuming a 20-year warranty costs 10% of the capital cost, this brings the total cost to \$283,591,860. This adds an additional \$778/kW to the BOS amount. While Consumers Energy will pay for the bulk of the decommissioning of J.H Campbell, it is up to the state and other stakeholders to formulate a plan for reuse and cleaning. We expect to be responsible for the demolition post-clean-up and the grading of the land in preparation for the batteries, totaling to another \$100/kW [77] [78]. Vessel deployment is an additional input in JEDI, and BuffWind opted for 3 support vessels (including crew transfer vessels), 9 towing vessels, 3 floating barges, 3 array cable installation vessels, and 3 export cable installation vessels for the project. Regarding these vessels, multiples of three were selected to ensure that at least two structures can be constructed simultaneously, along with at least two fully erected tower-foundations being tugged or installed concurrently. With these factors considered, the final BOS estimate is \$4,101/kW, yielding a total BOS cost of \$1,353,330,000.

The total turbine component cost was estimated using JEDI coupled with SAM. This encompasses the costs of the turbine, nacelle and drivetrain, blades, and towers, and is estimated to be \$1,405/kW, yielding a total cost of \$463,676,400. Soft costs were also estimated using JEDI (this includes commissioning, construction finance, construction insurance, contingency, and decommissioning). The estimated soft costs are \$629.00/kW, which contributes an additional \$193,380,000 towards the CapEx costs. The total CapEx is reported to be \$2,024,576,400. The breakdown of BOS costs, turbine component costs, and soft costs are summarized in Table 2.

Operational Expenditures

We also employed JEDI to estimate the CapEx costs for the project. An O&M cost of \$119/kW was calculated, considering factors such as the site's depth and distance from the port. The cost includes maintenance expenses (covering labor costs, spare parts, and vessels), totaling \$82/kW, as well as operating costs, which encompass administrative costs, operating facility expenses, environmental and safety monitoring costs, and insurance, amounting to \$37/kW. This estimated O&M expense is relatively high compared to the wind reports provided by NREL. Recent trends indicate that O&M costs for floating platforms are gradually decreasing, due to the increased capability to tow turbines to a port for maintenance, as well as advancements in preventative maintenance technology [79]. Moreover, many reviews suggest that TLPs may be easier to maintain compared to their semisubmersible counterparts [79]. However, despite these considerations, BuffWind has opted for a conservative approach, given uncertainties surrounding ice loading on towers and the potential necessity of renting icebreakers for maintenance. Should tower cones, designed to mitigate ice loading, be available in the market, there could be a requirement for replacement or maintenance. Taking all factors into account, the we adjusted the O&M cost to \$145/kW to accommodate the unique challenges posed by offshore freshwater floating turbines.

The yearly operations and maintenance cost for the battery system is \$891,860 with a 2% price escalation per year. The estimated \$3.4/kW per year for maintenance of the battery system has been factored in, resulting in a final O&M cost of \$147/kW with an applied escalation rate of 1% to account for increasing costs with project age. The lifetime O&M costs amount to about 1 billion dollars equating to slightly above one-third of our project's total lifetime costs. Regardless of the battery system inclusion, this O&M total aligns with European averages (25-30%), further solidifying our choice to add buffer [80].

We performed a review of historical yearly leasing prices vs. power purchase agreements (PPAs) and determined our yearly lease payment to be \$153/acre, totaling \$6.40/kW. This is assumed in the O&M cost.

Power Purchase Agreement

The PPA price used in this calculation was \$0.15/kWh. BuffWind referred to the Consumers Energy Rate Book to ascertain the current electricity selling price in the county under consideration. Consumers Energy sells electricity within a range of \$0.08/kWh to \$0.158/kWh, varying according to demand. [81]. After evaluating current PPA structures in use for wind development, we found that hybrid models (a set percentage of generation set to a cost, with the rest being variable to the market, usually 70-30) are most common in the U.S. across multiple forms of generation, followed by an escalation model [82]. A hybrid model was difficult to model in SAM, so we opted for an escalation model with a set price of \$0.11/kWh in year one and an escalation of 2% per year to keep up with trends of recent offshore projects and stay within a range desirable to Consumers Energy [83] [84]. However, this PPA price was not economically viable, requiring us to increase it to the price listed above. This number more accurately reflects the LCOE of our project, but in practice would likely require an extensive review and permission to increase electricity prices from both Consumers Energy and MISO.

Ownership Structure

BuffWind decided to use a PPA in the form of a leveraged partnership flip with debt for the project's financial model. We used SAM to analyze the financial feasibility of the project [85]. We are using an 80-20 project cash split with a 99-1 tax equity split prior to the flip year [86]. These percentages are based on projections for the future market, as investigated by the Norton Rose financial firm in their 2024 renewable energy outlook [87]. Pre-flip, the developer will own 20% of the share of project cash and 1% of tax equity, leaving the remaining 80% of project income and 99% of tax equity to the tax investor(s). This ownership structure will remain the same until the flip occurs at the end of the Internal Rate of Return (IRR) target year, determined to be 3 years for our project. After the IRR target year has been reached, the ownership structure of the project returns will flip, resulting in the developer owning 95% of project cash and 5% tax benefits, leaving the remaining 5% and 95% to the tax investor(s), which is common in the market [86]. Sometimes the tax equity split does not change because the developer does not have a large enough tax appetite, but this model was not viable for BuffWind, so we assume BuffWind has taxable assets. With this current structure in place the investor is in a conservative position and has an IRR of 11.28% and 13.36% at the end of the project. BuffWind's IRR is 13.41%. Financial bodies as large as JPMorgan Chase, Bank of America Corporation, or Wells Fargo are needed for this structure to work because they have a large enough tax appetite to benefit from the tax equity. We are proposing making a deal with Wells Fargo, as they have pledged to invest 500 billion dollars into sustainable financing by 2030 [88]. The remainder of the project will be financed through debt and must meet a DSCR of 1.4 and the PPA price mentioned above. The tenor is expected to last 18 years with an upfront fee of 2.75% of total debt. This financing plan assumes that BuffWind can finance the remaining 20% of the project up front or acquire an equity sponsor.

Taxes, Incentives, and Other Assumptions

The U.S. Federal Government (and many state governments) are providing incentives to encourage the growth of renewable energy and emerging technologies. In particular, the 2022 Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) invested roughly \$369 billion of federal funding to support progress toward U.S. energy security and climate change goals [89]. This money is allocated to a variety of programs to provide

funding opportunities across a wide range of industries and projects. BuffWind is utilizing the Clean Electricity Investment Tax Credit (IRA § 48E), which includes a 6% tax credit for the qualified investment, as well as an additional 30% if Prevailing Wage & Apprenticeship (PWA) standards are met, and an additional stackable 10% bonus for developing on retired coal plant land (the J.H Campbell site in this case) [90]. The IRA also offers a Clean Electricity Production Tax Credit (IRA § 45Y) of 0.3 cents/kWh or 1.5 cent/kWh if PWA requirements are met, but this was calculated to be much less economically favorable than the ITC for this project [90].

There are also several federal initiatives that are designed to decrease the cost of offshore wind projects in the U.S. that we did not factor into the financial analysis for the BuffWind project because they will have indirect, and therefore difficult to predict, impacts on the costs associated with the project. The first of these initiatives is the Floating Offshore Wind Shot. Created as part of the IRA, this initiative aims to "reduce the cost of floating offshore wind energy by more than 70%, to \$45 per MWh by 2035 for deep water sites far from shore" [91]. This will be done by targeting a variety of current challenges in the offshore wind industry, including research and development, strengthening the supply chain, increasing domestic manufacturing of turbines, and improving transmission networks. The next federal initiative worth mentioning is the Port Infrastructure Development Program. This program is overseen by the US Department of Transportation's Maritime Administration, which administers grants to improve port infrastructure in the US [92]. The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law allocated \$2.25 million through 2026 to this program, which could be used to improve the Port of Indiana - Burns Harbor to accommodate offshore wind turbines. However, dredging is not planned to take place for the BuffWind until 2030, and it is not guaranteed that BuffWind's application for this grant funding would be approved in the first place.

We also modeled taxes at both the state and federal levels. This includes a federal income tax rate of 21% [93], a State of Michigan income tax rate of 6% [94], and a State of Michigan sales tax rate of 4% [95]. We are assuming a 5-year MACRS depreciation for most of the capital, and a 15-year MACRS rate for the rest.

Net Present Value (NPV)

BuffWind utilized NREL's SAM software [96] to conduct the full financial analysis of the project. With all the parameters listed above used as inputs, an NPV of \$84.825,976 was calculated for BuffWind, partnered with an NPV of \$66,522,960 for our equity partner(s).

Supply Chains Contingencies

The current factory manufacturing our chosen model of turbine is in France [13], and GE is looking to build an offshore facility in New York near the coast of Lake Erie in 2028. The Pelastar specifically has not entered the market yet but is expected to do so with a facility for parts in Maine [97]. If these two factories are completed in time, this would make our project eligible for an additional 10% stackable ITC bonus for 20% turbine parts and 100% steel sourced in the US. This also assumes the rest of the Pelastar can be manufactured at existing factories. These extra funds would eliminate some risks associated with O&M and potentially make hydrogen more attractive to investors. If this incentive was utilized with our current model, the investor NPV would increase to \$95,926,816, and BuffWind's NPV to \$218,088,384. If the project outlook was this positive to start with, we would expect the capital stack to change. We are not including this in our analysis as it is just a possibility, but it is important to note as the U.S. supply chain continues to mature.

Critical Assumptions

The financial viability of this project is contingent on many pieces falling into place that we cannot account for early in the project. Below are the largest assumptions we are making, broken down by category.

Assumption	Description	Level of Concern
Dredging is permitted at Burns Harbor.	The Ports of Indiana - Burns Harbor must be dredged prior to installation to meet drought requirements for tow out.	Medium
BuffWind will be able to purchase the J.H. Campbell plant and use both its water rights and point of interconnection to the electric grid.	Being able to purchase the J.H. Campbell power plant is critical to the success of the project. There could already be a buyer in market that has not been publicly announced, and there is an activist group (Save the Campbell) that is advocating for the local government to purchase and reopen the coal plant.	High
MISO will approve a raise in rates from an average of \$.11/kwh to \$.15/kwh.	The financial viability of the BuffWind project relies on selling electricity for .15 cents with an escalation rate, which would need to be approved by MISO.	High
Large firms have a big enough tax appetite to invest in the project, and IRA credits are transferable.	There needs to be investment partners for this plan to work. While the idea of transferability of tax credits is being discussed in industry, it is not specifically mentioned in the IRA.	High
There will still be 6 MW turbines on the market in 2032.	Turbine manufacturers are continuing to increase the size of their turbines, so there is some concern that there will no longer be any 6 MW turbines on the market at the time of project construction.	Medium
Pelastar foundations will be commercially available by 2032.	These foundations are ideal for the project because of their capacity for ice mitigation, which would significantly reduce O&M costs. They are not currently on the market in the US, but there is a proposed production facility in Maine.	Medium
The project meets the IRA PWA requirements.	The financial viability of the BuffWind project relies on receiving the full 30% ITC base.	High
Project begins construction before 2032.	Construction must begin in 2032 to be eligible for the ITC.	High
The contingencies added to the O&M and BOS costs do not exceed the estimates used by BuffWind.	The contingencies used in the financial models for these costs were based on numbers not specifically related to wind projects due to the novelty of floating offshore wind and lack of benchmarking data. These estimates, while conservative, could increase the overall cost of the project and affect its financial viability.	Medium
BuffWind receives all necessary permits.	The project must have all permits before construction can begin.	High

Table 3. Critical Assumptions

Optimization Process

BuffWind has taken measures to optimize the site design within technological limits. The first is comparing capacity factors of multiple turbine models at our location, which is explored and justified in our midyear report. After adding 90 MW of nameplate capacity to the farm, we compared the wake losses of a grid format to the money lost if we expanded the lease area to minimized wake losses. This was deemed negligible, and a grid format was chosen to make the array lay less complicated and hence less expensive. The angle of the turbines vs. NPV was also graphically evaluated, and an angle of 158 degrees southwest was ultimately chosen. BuffWind ran over 100 SAM iterations, tracking a variety of parameters, to conduct a sensitivity analysis. These include O&M costs, PPA price, O&M escalation rate, PPA escalation rate, turbine quantity, turbine model, BOP costs, and flip percentages. While all these parameters cannot necessarily be optimized since they're heavily market dependent, we wanted to see which ones had the largest effect on our final NPV and IRR. The PPA, BOS, and flip percentages were determined to heavily impact the outcome, whereas dropping or adding a turbine and changing O&M costs did not influence the outcome very much. A few of the charts we analyzed are shown below in Figure 10 and Figure 11. During Phase 2, BuffWind utilized multiple decision matrices to make the best choice of port, site location, and technology. These matrices were referenced throughout our decision process in Phase 3, but the top choices never changed.



Figure 10. PPA vs. NPV Sensitivity

Figure 11. PPA Escalation vs. NPV Sensitivity

Bid for Lease

BuffWind has evaluated recent winning bids in the U.S. In the Northern Atlantic the average wind speeds at recently leased areas were in the 8-9.5 m/s range, and the average winning price per acre was about \$8,830 [98]. However, in the Southern Atlantic the average speed is 7.5 m/s, and the average price per acre for the winning bids was \$2,865 [99]. Lastly, the California wind speeds at each leasing location range from 7-9 m/s, yet the average price per acre for the winning bids was around \$2,059 [100]. The bottomlands and waters of the Great Lakes in the proposed site location are managed by the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE), from which a Great Lakes Submerged Lands Construction Permit and a Conveyance would need to be obtained, so we expect to coordinate with them [101] [102]. Additionally, we would need to coordinate with MISO (as stated previously) to comply with all FERC requirements. Beyond these bodies, the exact process for an auction is unknown. The levelized cost of energy and nominal NPV per MW were considered for our bid and evaluated against the recent auctions. Following the steps outlined in the Guidehouse model [103], we are moving forward with a bid proposal of \$2,447 per acre. This number is consistent with prices in the market and a reflection of our NPV.

References

- [1] W. Musial, R. Green, E. DeMao, A. Cooperman, S. Housner, M. Marquis, S. MacDonals, B. McDowell, C. Hein, R. Rolph, P. Duffy, G. Zuckerman, O. Roberts, J. Stefek and E. Rangel, "Great Lakes Wind Energy Challenges and Opportunies Assessment," National Renewable Energy Labratory, Golden, CO, 2023.
- [2] "Global Wind Atlas," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://globalwindatlas.info/en.
- [3] National Renewable Energy Laboratory, *Offshore Great Lakes Dataset*, WIND Toolkit, 2021.
- [4] "Power Technology," GlobalData, 6 February 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.power-technology.com/data-insights/power-plant-profile-jh-campbell-coal-fired-power-plant-us/.
- [5] Michigan Public Power Agency, "James H. Campbell Unit No. 3," [Online]. Available: https://www.mpower.org/project/james-h-campbell-unit-no-3/.
- [6] Consumers Energy, "J.H. Campbell Complex Retirement," [Online]. Available: https://www.consumersenergy.com/company/electric-generation/campbell-complex-retirement.
- [7] R. G. Sullivan, "Offshore Wind Turbine Visibility and Visual Impact Threshold," *Environmental Practice*, vol. 15, no. 1, p. 16, 5 2013.
- [8] GE Renewable Energy, "GE's Haliade* 150-6MW High yield offshore wind turbine," General Electric, 2015.
- [9] C. D. F. J. J. S. a. J. M. R. C. Ramachandran, "Floating offshore wind turbines: Installation, operation,," 25 october 2021. [Online]. Available: https://wes.copernicus.org/preprints/wes-2021-120/wes-2021-120.pdf.
- [10] H. L. William and C. J. Nordstrom, "PelaStar Cost of Energy: A cost study of the PelaStar floating foundation," 21 January 2014. [Online]. Available: https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/assets.eti.co.uk/documents/PelaStar-LCOE-Paper-21-Jan-2014.pdf?mtime=20160912135530.
- [11] International Renewable Energy Agency, "Floating Foundations: A Game Changer for Offshore Wind Power," Abu Dhabi, 2016.
- [12] American Bureau of Shipping, "Offshore Anchor Data for Preliminary Design of Anchors of Floating Offshore Wind Turbines," Corporate Offshore Technology, Renewables, Houstan, 2013.
- [13] GE Renewable Energy, "Saint Nazaire- Where Haliade Turbines are Made," General Electric, 23 5 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.ge.com/news/reports/where-ge-makes-haliadeturbines. [Accessed 1 12 2023].
- [14] E. Dailey, "Port Duluth recieves record breaking shipment of wind turbine blades," Project Cargo Journal, 17 10 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.projectcargojournal.com/portsand-terminals/2022/10/17/port-of-duluth-receives-record-breaking-shipment-of-wind-turbineblades/?gdpr=deny. [Accessed 16 11 2023].
- [15] D. Zheng and S. Bose, "Offshore wind turbine design," *WIT Transactions on State of the Art Science and Engineering*, vol. 44, 2010.
- [16] Ports of Indiana, "Ports of Indiana Lease Oppertunities," Ports of Indiana, [Online]. Available: https://www.portsofindiana.com/tenant-benefits/lease-opportunities/.
- [17] Logistec Terminals, "TechSheets-BurnsHarbor," Logistech, [Online]. Available: https://www.logistecterminals.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/TechSheets-BurnsHarbor_5mai_March2024.pdf.
- [18] D. Alexandder, "Scandia Wind Offshore- Backing Off Due to Public Backlash," Michigan Charter Boat Association, 2022.

- [19] W. Musial, P. Spisen, P. Beither, P. Duffy, D. Hernando, H. R, M. Sheilds and M. Marquis, "Offshore Wind Market Report 2023," U.S. Department of Energy, Golden, 2023.
- [20] American Clean Power, "Offshore Wind Vessel Needs".
- [21] Lake Carriers Association, "Great Lakes Icebreaking," Lake Carriers Association, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://lcaships.com/http-www-lcaships-com-wp-content-uploads-2020-06icebreaking-resources-10-june-2020-final-pdf/.
- [22] Bureau of Ocean Energy Management Office of Renewable Energy Programs, "Comparison of Environmental Effects from Different Offshore Wind Turbine Foundations," U.S. Department of the Interior, 2020.
- [23] H. Bailey, "Assessing environmental impacts of offshore wind farms: lessons learned and recommendations for the future," *Aquatic Biosystems*, vol. 10, 2014.
- [24] USGS, "Great Lakes Aquatic Nonindigenous Species Information System," 2012. [Online].
- [25] Great Lakes Fishery Commission, "The Fishery," 2024. [Online].
- [26] Minnesota Aquatic Invasive Species Research Center (MAISRC), "Evaluating innovative coatings to supress priority AIS," University of Minnesolta College of Food, Agricultural and Natural Resource Sciences, 2019.
- [27] North American Marine Environment Protection Association, "Antifouling, Invasive Species, and Ship Recycling".
- [28] Environmental Protection Agency, "How's My Waterway?," 2022. [Online].
- [29] D. T. N.R. Francingues, "Control of Resuspended Sediments in Dredging Projects," 2013.
- [30] Center for Biological Diversity, "Map: U.S. Threatened and Endangered Species by County," 2024. [Online].
- [31] P. Doran, "A Tale of Two Flyaways," The Nature Conservancy, 19 May 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.nature.org/en-us/about-us/where-we-work/unitedstates/michigan/stories-in-michigan/migratory-birds-flyways/.
- [32] N. Dhanesha, "Can Painting Wind Turbine Blades Black Really Save Birds?," *Audobon Magazine*, 18 September 2020.
- [33] U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Aviation Administration, "Advisory Circular: Obstruction Marking and Lighting," 2015.
- [34] WINDExchange U.S. Department of Energy, "Wind Turbines and Birds," [Online]. Available: https://windexchange.energy.gov/projects/birds.
- [35] robin radar systems, "5 Technologies for Reducing Bird Mortality at Wind Farms".
- [36] Renewable Energy Wildilfe Institute, "Minimizing Collision Risk to Wildlife During Oeprations," 2022.
- [37] E. Madi, "A review of integrating ice detection and mitigation for wind turbine blades," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 103, pp. 269-281, 2019.
- [38] Vestas, "Vestas unveils circularity solution to end landfill for turbine blades," 8 February 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.vestas.com/en/media/company-news/2023/vestas-unveilscircularity-solution-to-end-landfill-for-c3710818.
- [39] H. R, J. E and T. E, "Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews Volume 165: Environmental Impact Assessment for the decommissioning of offshore wind farms," ScienceDirect, 2022.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1364032122004762. [Accessed 5 April 2024].
- [40] V. Spielmann, J. Dannheim, T. Brey and J. Coolen, "Journal of Environmental Management Volume 347: Decommissioning of offshore wind farms and its impact on benthic ecology,"

Elsevier, 1 12 23. [Online]. Available: https://tethys.pnnl.gov/publications/decommissioning-offshore-wind-farms-its-impact-benthic-ecology. [Accessed 5 4 2024].

- [41] P. David Cox, "Evolving regulations for wind turbine end-of-life," Renewable Energy World, 29 12 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.renewableenergyworld.com/wind-power/evolving-regulations-for-wind-turbine-end-of-life/#gref. [Accessed 5 April 2024].
- [42] National Center for Atmospheric Research, NCAR Climate Data Guide.
- [43] M. Sickler, B. Ummels, M. Zaaijer, R. Schmehl and K. Dykes, "Offshore wind farm optimisation: a comparison of performance between regular and irregular wind turbine layouts," *European Academy of Wind Energy*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 1225-1233, 2022.
- [44] Wind Energy Technologies Office, "A Driving FORCE for Projecting Wind Energy Costs," Office of Energy Efficiancy and Renewable Energy, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/eere/wind/articles/driving-force-projecting-offshore-wind-energycosts#:~:text=The%20FORCE%20model%20estimates%20that,in%202035%20for%20floating %20offshore.
- [45] C. Kurrer, "The potential of hydrogen for decarbonising steel production," European Parliamentary Research Service, 2020.
- [46] L. Thompson, "Argonne National Laboratory," 16 October 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.anl.gov/article/department-of-energy-awards-argonne-national-laboratory-and-partners-up-to-1-billion-to-launch-clean.
- [47] V. Arjona, *Electrolyzer Installations in the United States*, US Department of Energy, 2023.
- [48] Cleveland-Cliffs, "Cleveland-Cliffs Completes Successful Blast Funace Hydrogen Injection Trial at Indiana Harbor #7 Blast Furnace," 26 January 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.clevelandcliffs.com/news/news-releases/detail/620/cleveland-cliffs-completessuccessful-blast-furnace.
- [49] Global Energy Monitor, "Cleveland-Cliffs Burns Harbor Steel Plant," Global Energy Monitor Wiki, [Online]. Available: https://www.gem.wiki/Cleveland-Cliffs_Burns_Harbor_steel_plant.
- [50] Illinois Department of Natural Resources, "Lake Michigan Water Allocation," [Online]. Available: https://dnr.illinois.gov/waterresources/lakemichiganwaterallocation.html.
- [51] M. Melaina, O. Antonia and M. Penev, "Blending Hydrogen into Natural Gas Pipeline Networks: A Review of Key Issues," National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, 2013.
- [52] Linde, "Fast-forward to Net Zero," [Online]. Available: https://www.linde.com/clean-energy.
- [53] A. A. P. W. Patrick Preuster, "Annual Reviews," Annual Review of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering, June 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.annualreviews.org/content/journals/10.1146/annurev-chembioeng-060816-101334.
- [54] I. Ocko and S. Hamburg, "Climate consequences of hydrogen emissions," *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, vol. 22, no. 14, pp. 9349-9368, 2022.
- [55] Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Technologies Office, "Gaseous Hydrogen Delivery," US Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/gaseous-hydrogendelivery#:~:text=Trucks%20that%20haul%20gaseous%20hydrogen,Learn%20more%20about %20tube%20trailers.
- [56] Addison Township. v. Gout, 1990.
- [57] Global Energy Monitor, "Global Gas Infrastructure Tracker," [Online]. Available: https://globalenergymonitor.org/projects/global-gas-infrastructure-tracker/tracker/.
- [58] G. Saur, "Wind-To-Hydrogen Project: Electrolyzer Capital Cost Study," National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, 2008.

- [59] Federal Register, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2023/12/26/2023-28359/section-45v-credit-forproduction-of-clean-hydrogen-section-48a15-election-to-treat-clean-hydrogen.
- [60] Senate Committee on Environment and Public Works, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.epw.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/2024/2/capito-urges-treasury-department-toreverse-course-on-45v-hydrogen-tax-creditguidance#:~:text=The%2045V%20credit%20is%20technology,from%20qualifying%20for%20t he%20credit..
- [61] 26 CFR 48.
- [62] Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Technologies Office, "Financial Incentives for Hydrogen and Fuel Cell Projects," US Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/eere/fuelcells/financial-incentives-hydrogen-andfuel-cell-projects.
- [63] M. Bolinger, J. Seel, C. Warner and D. Robson, "Utility-Scale Solar, 2022 Edition: Empirical Trends in Deployment, Technology, Cost, Performance, PPA Pricing, and Value in the United States," Berkeley Lab Energy Technologies Area, Berkeley, 2022.
- [64] International Energy Agency, "Solar PV," [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/energysystem/renewables/solar-pv.
- [65] T. Casey, "Floating Solar Poised For World Domination, With Tracking," Clean Technica, 12 October 2023. [Online]. Available: https://cleantechnica.com/2023/10/12/floating-solar-poisedfor-world-domination-with-tracking/.
- [66] Crown Battery Renewable Energy Systems, "The Rise of Renewable Energy: How Batteries are Powering the Change," 15 January 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.crownbattery.com/news/the-rise-of-renewable-energy-how-batteries-are-poweringthechange#:~:text=Large%2Dscale%20battery%20systems%20are,reducing%20production%20co sts%20and%20emissions..
- [67] U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Battery storage applications have shifted as more batteries are added to the U.S. grid," 1 November 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=50176.
- [68] The Tesla Team, "Introducing Megapack: Utility-Scale Energy Storage," 29 July 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.tesla.com/blog/introducing-megapack-utility-scale-energy-storage.
- [69] Wikipedia, "Tesla MegaPack," [Online]. Available: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tesla_Megapack#:~:text=Each%20Megapack%20comes%20with %20a,available%20for%20an%20additional%20cost..
- [70] US Department of Energy, "Open Energy Data Initiative," [Online]. Available: data.openei.org.
- [71] National Renewable Energy Laboratory, "Grid-Scale Battery Storage," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy19osti/74426.pdf.
- [72] "Save the Campbell," Citizens Consulting Group, LLC, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://savethecampbell.com/.
- [73] EPA, "EPA EJScreen," [Online]. Available: https://ejscreen.epa.gov/mapper/.
- [74] A. T. P. Crowle, "Port installation constraints of Tension Leg Platforms (TLP) floating wind turbines," ORE, 2022.
- [75] BVG Associates, Catapult Offshore Renewables, "Guide to a Floating Offshore Wind Farm," Pixel House Media, [Online]. Available: https://guidetofloatingoffshorewind.com/about/.

- [76] S. Heidari, "Economic Modeling of Floating Offshore Wind Power," Malardalens Hogskola Eskilstuna Vasteras, 2017.
- [77] EPA, "Coal Plant Decomissioning," EPA, 2016.
- S. Spiridon, "How Much Does Land Grading Cost in 2024," Lawn Love, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://lawnlove.com/blog/land-gradingcost/#:~:text=Typical%20land%20grading%20cost%20is,ranges%20from%20%2415%2C800 %20to%20%2444%2C535.&text=in%20Your%20Area-,Land%20grading%20cost%20is%20% 240.08%20to%20%242.00%20per%20square%20foot,to%202%2C000%20squar.
- [79] J. McMorland, M. Collu, D. McMillan and J. Carroll, "Operation and maintenance for floating wind turbines: A review," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 163, 2022.
- [80] A. S. V. Y. L. J. J. E. T. Z. J. Zhengru Ren, "Offshore wind turbine operations and maintenance: A state-of-the-art-review," *Elsevier*, p. 144, 2021.
- [81] Consumers Energy, Rate Book for Electric Service, Consumers Energy Company, 2019.
- [82] Z. Stein, "Power Purchase Agreement," Carbon Collective, 2024.
- [83] Norton Rose Fullbright, "Global Offshore Wind: US," Norton Rose Fullbright, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.nortonrosefulbright.com/en/knowledge/publications/402486c8/globaloffshore-wind-usa.
- [84] B. K.-G. Eric Hines, "U.S. Offshore Wind Prices (2018-2021)," Tufts Archival Research Center, Tufts University, 2022.
- [85] P. Schwabe, D. Feldman, J. Fields and E. Settle, "Wind Energy Finance in the United States: Current Practice and Opportunities," National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, 2017.
- [86] K. Martin, "Partnership flips: Structures and issues," Norton Rose Fullbright, Washington D.C, 2018.
- [87] K. Martin, "Episode 236: Cost of Capital: 2024 Outlook," Norton Rose FullBright, 2024.
- [88] Wells Fargo, "Wells Fargo Sustainability & Governance Report," 2023.
- [89] Senate Democrats, "Summary: The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022," Washington, D.C., 2022.
- [90] The White House, "Clean Energy Tax Provisions," [Online]. Available: https://www.whitehouse.gov/cleanenergy/clean-energy-tax-provisions/.
- [91] Department of Energy, "Floating Offshore Wind Shot," [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/eere/wind/floating-offshore-wind-shot.
- [92] US Department of Transportation Maritime Administration, "Port Infrastructure Development Program," [Online]. Available: https://www.maritime.dot.gov/PIDPgrants.
- [93] Internal Revenue Service, "Publication 542 (01/2024), Corporations," January 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.irs.gov/publications/p542#en US 202401 publink1000257885.
- [94] Michigan Department of Treasury, "Corporate Income Tax," [Online]. Available: https://www.michigan.gov/taxes/business-taxes/cit.
- [95] Michigan Department of Treasury, "Sales and Use Tax Information," [Online]. Available: https://www.michigan.gov/taxes/business-taxes/sales-use-tax/information.
- [96] *System Advisor Model Version 2023.12.17(SAM 2023.12.17)*, Golden, CO.: National Renewable Energy Labratory, 2023.
- [97] Glosten, "Pelastar Teams up to Pursue Local Tendon Manufacturing for Gulf of Maine," Glosten, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://glosten.com/pelastar-teams-up-to-pursue-localtendon-manufacturing-for-gulf-of-maine/.
- [98] U.S Department of the Interior, "Bidem-Harris Administration Sets Offshore Energy REcords with \$4.37 Billion in Winning Bids for Wind Sale," U.S. Department of the Interior, 2022.

[Online]. Available: https://www.doi.gov/pressreleases/biden-harris-administration-sets-offshore-energy-records-437-billion-winning-bids-wind.

- [99] Office of Efficiency and REnewable Energy, "Offshore Wind Market Report: 2022 Edition," U.S Department of Energy, [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-09/offshore-wind-market-report-2022-v2.pdf.
- [100] U.S Department of the Interior, "Biden-Harris Administration Announces Winners of California Offshore Wind Energy Auction," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.doi.gov/pressreleases/biden-harris-administration-announces-winners-californiaoffshore-wind-energy-auction.
- [101] Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, "Great Lakes Submerged Lands Construction Permits," [Online]. Available: https://www.michigan.gov/egle/about/organization/water-resources/submerged-lands/greatlakes-construction-permits.
- [102] Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, "Great Lakes Bottomland Conveyances," [Online]. Available: https://www.michigan.gov/egle/about/organization/waterresources/submerged-lands/great-lakes-bottomland-conveyances.
- [103] Guidehouse, "Financial Auctions for Offshore Wind," Guidehouse, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://guidehouse.com/insights/energy/2023/financial-auctions-for-offshore-wind.
- [104] O. o. Energy, "WINDExchange: End of Service Wind Turbine Guide," ENERGY.GOV, 2022. [Online]. Available: windexchange.energy.gov/end-of-service-guide. [Accessed 5 April 2024].
- [105] IEA, "Data and Statistics," [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics.
- [106] "GE proposes building two new offshore wind facilities in New York," General Electric, 26 1 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.ge.com/news/press-releases/ge-proposes-building-twonew-offshore-wind-facilities-in-new-york. [Accessed 1 12 2023].
- [107] "Haliade 150-6MW offshore wind turbine," GE Renewable Energy, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.ge.com/renewableenergy/wind-energy/offshore-wind/offshore-turbine-haliade-150-6mw. [Accessed 8 December 2023].
- [108] Alstom Renovables Espana S.L, "Haliade150-6mw type certificate validation," in *EWEA Offshore 2015*, Copenhagen, 2015.
- [109] United States Census Bureau, "United States Census Data," [Online].
- [110] P. Engel, "Gary Indiana is Deteriorating So Much That it May Cut Off Services to Nearly Half of Its Land," Business Insider, 20 June 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.businessinsider.com/gary-indiana-is-deteriorating-badly-2013-6.
- [111] J. Hurdle, "Offshore wind critics say farms will damage shore economies and ruin ocean views," PBS, 11 March 2021. [Online]. Available: https://whyy.org/articles/offshore-wind-critics-say-farms-will-damage-shore-economies-and-ruin-ocean-views/.
- [112] K. Vu, "Turbines in Trouble: The Controversy Behind Vineyard Wind & Offshore Wind In Massachusetts," Harvard Political Review, 2 October 2023. [Online]. Available: https://harvardpolitics.com/turbines-in-trouble/.
- [113] RenewableUK, "Offshore Wind Project Timelines," RenewableUK, 2017.
- [114] Orsted and Eversource, "South Fork Wind Construction Updates," 2023. [Online]. Available: https://southforkwind.com/construction-archive/onshore-construction-updates.
- [115] Equinor, "About the Project," 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.empirewind.com/about/project/.
- [116] Dominion Energy, "Coastal Virginia Offshore Wind, Project Timeline," 2024. [Online]. Available: https://coastalvawind.com/about-offshore-wind/timeline.aspx.

- [117] S. Heidari, "Economic Modeling of Offshore Wind Power," Flow Ocean, p. 92, 2017.
- [118] I. Glib, "OFfshore Wind Farm Timeline," in Ukraine-Taiwan Offshore Wind Joint Venture. Promising coorperation for achieving Energy Independence, 2023.
- [119] Iberdrola, "Everything you'd like to know about offshore wind farm construction," 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.iberdrola.com/about-us/our-activity/offshore-windenergy/offshore-wind-park-construction.
- [120] N. Schultz, "The Fight To Keep Wind Turbines out of the Great Lakes," Trade Only, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.tradeonlytoday.com/columns-blogs/the-fight-to-keep-wind-turbines-out-of-the-great-lakes.
- [121] Stiesdal, "The TetraSpar full-scale demonstration project," [Online]. Available: https://www.stiesdal.com/offshore/the-tetraspar-full-scale-demonstration-project/.
- [122] Iberdrola, "Floating offshore wind power: a milestone to boost renewables through innovation," 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.iberdrola.com/innovation/floating-offshorewind#:~:text=Tensioned%20Legs%20Platform%20(TLP).&text=Prior%20to%20installation% 2C%20to%20prevent,to%20the%20offshore%20anchorage%20site..
- [123] P. D. D. M. H. Tyler Stehly, "2022 Cost of Wind Energy Review," NREL, 2023.
- [124] M. C. D. M. J. C. J. McMorland, "Operation and maintenance for floating wind turbines: A review," *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 163, 2022.
- [125] A. G. Ted James, "Supply Chain and Blade Manufacturing Considerations in Global Wind Industry," NREL, 2013.
- [126] L. Baker, "Shipping wind turbines is not a breeze," Freight Waves, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.freightwaves.com/news/shipping-wind-turbines-is-not-a-breeze.
- [127] J. Frittelli, "Shipping on the Great Lakes and St. Lawrence Seaway: An update," Congressional Research Service, 2023.
- [128] E. a. W. P. O. -. E. S. Division, "Waterway Permitting Manual," Indiana Department of Transportation, 14 December 2021. [Online]. Available: https://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.in.gov/indot/engineering/files/Waterwa y-Permit-Manual-12-2021.pdf. [Accessed 12 April 2024].
- [129] "Chapter 15 Zoning Ordinance," Town of Burns Harbor, Indiana, March 2023. [Online]. Available: https://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.burnsharborin.gov/DocumentCenter/View/422/CHAPTER-15---Zoning-Ordinance. [Accessed 12 April 2024].
- [130] M. C. L. C. T. P. 3. o. 2024, "THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP ACT: Act 359 of 1947," www.legislature.mi.gov, 11 April 2024. [Online]. Available: https://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/mcl/pdf/ mcl-act-359-of-1947.pdf. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [131] "Meteorological Evaluation Towers (METs) and their Impacts on Aviation," WRP, 5 October 2018. [Online]. Available: https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwrpinfo.org%2Fmedia% 2F1469%2Fmet-tower-fact-sheet-october-2018.docx%23%3A~%3Atext%3DMany%2520towers%2520are%2520built%2520lower%2Cs tructure%2520200%2520feet%2520or%2520taller&wdOrigin.. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [132] O. o. P. Resources, "Endangered Species Act," NOAA Fisheries, 13 June 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/national/endangered-speciesconservation/endangered-speciesact#:~:text=The%20Endangered%20Species%20Act%20of,habitats%20both%20domestically %20and%20abroad.. [Accessed 13 April 2024].

- [133] FEMA, "Flood Maps," U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 22 January 2024. [Online]. Available: https://www.fema.gov/flood-maps. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [134] NEPA, "What is the National Environmental Policy Act?," EPA, 5 October 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.epa.gov/nepa/what-national-environmental-policy-act. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [135] "U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Headquarters Website Obtain a Permit," US Army Corps of Engineers, [Online]. Available: https://www.usace.army.mil/missions/civil-works/Regulatory-Program-and-permits/Obtain-a-Permit/. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [136] I. D. o. N. Resources, "Permit Programs," State of Indiana DNR, [Online]. Available: https://www.in.gov/dnr/water/regulatory-permit-programs/. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [137] G. L. a. E. Department of Environment, "EGLE Permits," EGLE, [Online]. Available: https://www.michigan.gov/egle/regulatory-assistance/permits. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [138] "Submerged Lands Act (SLA) of 1953," Bureau of Ocean Energy Management (BOEM), [Online]. Available: https://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/uploadedFi les/BOEM/Oil_and_Gas_Energy_Program/Leasing/Outer_Continental_Shelf/Lands_Act_Histo ry/submerged.pdf. [Accessed 13 April 2024].
- [139] S. K. Akos Losz, "Assessment of Vessel Requirments for the U.S Offshore Wind Sector," Douglaas Westwood, 2013.
- [140] T. S. a. P. Duffy, "2021 Cost of Wind Energy Review," NREL, 2022.
- [141] P. D. D. M. Tyler Stehly, "2022 Cost of Wind Energy Review," NREL, 2023.
- [142] C. J. Nordstrom, "Innovative Offshore Wind Plant Design Study," 18 December 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/1327306.
- [143] "Guide to a Floating Offshore Wind Farm," BVG Associates, 31 May 2023. [Online]. Available: https://guidetofloatingoffshorewind.com/fixed-versus-floating-offshore-wind/.
- [144] R. C. Ramachandran, C. Desmond, F. Judge, J.-J. Serraris and J. Murphy, "Floating offshore wind turbines: Installation, operation,," 25 October 2021. [Online]. Available: https://wes.copernicus.org/preprints/wes-2021-120/wes-2021-120.pdf.
- [145] WINDExchange, "Production Tax Credit and Investment Tax Credit for Wind Energy," Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, 2024. [Online]. Available: https://windexchange.energy.gov/projects/taxcredits#:~:text=In%202025%2C%20the%20tax%20credits,2022%20levels%2C%20whichever %20is%20later..
- [146] H. Cooper, K. Spencer and P. Tingle, "Add Batteries to Your Wind Farm and Get More (ITC) Juice," McDermott Will & Emery, 15 November 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.mwe.com/insights/add-batteries-to-wind-farm-get-more-juice/.
- [147] Tesla, "Select Megapack," [Online]. Available: https://www.tesla.com/megapack/design.
- [148] National Renewable Energy Laboratory, "Grid-Scale Battery Storage," 2019.